FILED  
10/30/2017 12:21 PM  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

**NO. 76019-0-I**

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

L.M. a minor, by and through his Guardian ad Litem  
WILLIAM L.E. DUSSAULT,

Appellant,

vs.

LAURA HAMILTON, individually and her  
marital community; LAURA HAMILTON LICENSED  
MIDWIFE, a Washington business,

Respondents.

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Simeon J. Osborn, WSBA #14484  
Susan Machler, WSBA #23256  
Attorneys for Appellant

OSBORN MACHLER  
2025 First Avenue, Suite 1200  
Seattle, Washington 98121  
(206) 441-4110

**A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioner, Levi Zane Myhre, by and through his Guardian ad Litem, William L.E. Dussault, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

**B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals' opinion was filed on August 28, 2017, (Appendix "App." 1), and a motion to publish was granted on September 29, 2017. (App. 2).

**C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether a *Frye* hearing should have been conducted when it was undisputed that no medical literature exists that a brachial plexus rupture and/or avulsion can occur at all five levels of the brachial plexus complex by the natural forces of labor alone.

2. Whether a *Frye* hearing should have been conducted when the conclusions made in the medical literature that the natural forces of labor can cause permanent brachial plexus injuries lack scientific bases or are based upon methods that are not generally accepted in the scientific community.

3. Whether a biomechanical engineer and professor from the orthopedics department is qualified to opine that the forces occurring

during labor are insufficient to cause nerve injury.

4. Whether a biomechanical engineer can opine how much force is necessary to injure the brachial plexus nerve when virtually all the medical literature states that this force is not known and cannot be known.

5. Whether the Court should review this case along with the case concerning Alan Tencer already accepted for review: *Gilmore v. Jefferson County Public Transportation*, Case No. 94559-4.

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **1. Substantive Facts**

On April 4, 2010, Levi Myhre was born with a motionless right arm at respondent Laura Hamilton's home birthing center in Chehalis, Washington. Hamilton acted as midwife for Levi's birth, and a family member video recorded his birth. In August, 2010, at Seattle Children's Hospital, Dr. Raymond Tse attempted surgical repair of Levi's brachial plexus nerve and found rupture of the nerve roots at the C5 and C6 vertebrae, avulsion of the nerve root at the C7 vertebrae, and partial avulsion of the C8 and T1 nerves. CP 1640. Levi has no functional use of his upper right arm, limited use of his right forearm, and impairment of his hand. He also suffers sensory loss and pain. CP 1665-1668; 1671.

Levi's expert obstetrician/gynecologist, Dr. Howard Mandel, reviewed the records and the video recording. He testified that shoulder

dystocia occurred during delivery, where Levi's right shoulder stuck on mother's pubic bone. CP 1670. This condition requires immediate intervention.

Dr. Mandel observed that "the midwife inserted her hands around the baby's neck in an apparent effort to manually turn the baby, and about 20 seconds later, she applied lateral (downward) manual traction of Levi's head and neck in her delivery process." CP 1642. Dr. Mandell testified that the placement of Hamilton's hands was improper and has long been associated with excessive forces that can and do result in brachial plexus injury. In this case, Levi's five brachial plexus nerve roots were 'avulsed' (ripped away from the spinal cord) or 'ruptured' (ripped apart). CP 1642. Midwife Hamilton's treatment fell below the standard of care. CP 1640.

Dr. Mandell also testified that the extensive damage to all five of Levi's brachial plexus nerve roots could only be caused by excessive traction. No medical data or literature reports "of such a serious brachial plexus neurological injury occurred without excessive manual traction by the delivering provider." CP 1640-1641.

Plaintiff's midwife expert, Pamela Kelly, RN, CNM, testified that Hamilton encountered shoulder dystocia and failed to use the recognized shoulder dystocia maneuvers to release the shoulder. Instead, Kelly observed from the video that Hamilton pulled "on the neck and anterior

shoulder to free it from under the pubic bone. The mother pushes simultaneously which further impacts the shoulder behind the pubic bone, so the midwife pulls even harder.” CP 1654-1656. Ms. Kelly also knows of no medical literature that “avulsion and ruptures of the brachial plexus nerve roots of an otherwise normal newborn can occur by way of the natural forces of labor (uterine contractions and maternal pushing).”

Dr. Stephen T. Glass, plaintiff’s pediatric neurology expert, reviewed the video of Levi’s birth and observed “lateral (downward) distraction of the head and neck are utilized in the process of delivery efforts.” Subsequently, “stronger pulling efforts are noted by delivering hands . . .” 1665-1668. Dr. Glass testified that: “Given the character of delivery and given the degree and extent of this severe plexus injury, it is improbable that the ‘natural forces’ of labor and delivery were solely responsible . . .” CP 1665-1668. In fact, Dr. Glass testified that excessive lateral or rotational traction manually applied to Levi’s head was the “only way” this injury could have occurred. CP 1672.

The case below was filed in King County Superior Court on January 27, 2014. On August 18, 2015, plaintiff filed his motion to exclude evidence that the natural forces of labor could cause Levi’s injury. Initially, the trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion. The court found: “The evidence that we have from the defense is not specific enough to this

type of injury because it just includes temporary and permanent, and whether it's a stretch, whether it's a rupture, whether it's an avulsion, whether it's a neuroma we don't really know." VRP, Sept. 18, 2015, Motion Hearing, p. 19, lines 19-23.

Plaintiff filed his motion for partial summary judgment of negligence and causation on September 15, 2015. CP 1621.

On October 1, 2015, Hamilton filed a motion for reconsideration. Hamilton submitted six new expert declarations, all dated after the court's September 18, 2015, ruling. CP 2933.

The trial court granted the motion on October 12, 2015, just seven days before trial. The trial court determined that "it would be substantially unfair to the defense to restrict them to testimony that said basically she did not violate the standard of care, she met the standard of care, and then on cross-examination to that witness, well, if she didn't how did this happen and then they can't say, well, it wasn't traction and then the jury's going to just be left with that void." VRP, 10/12/15, Motion Hearing, p. 27, lines 1-7. The trial court also determined that, although the medical literature does not state that an avulsion can be caused by the natural forces of labor, literature exists that a permanent injury can be caused by natural forces of labor. VRP, 10/12/15, Motion Hearing, p. 27, line 14, through p. 28, line 8. Finally, the trial court stated that, because the forces

acting on an infant's brachial plexus nerve cannot be studied prospectively based upon ethical considerations: "You can't get in there and manipulate and do those things to say, oh, that's how much it took, that's how much pressure it took." VRP, 10/12/15, Motion Hearing, p. 29, lines 5-7; p. 29, line 18, through p. 30, line 1.

The jury trial resulted in a defense verdict. Levi appealed. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling, and this Petition for Review follows.

**E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

**1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court regarding the admission of scientific evidence.**

The Washington Supreme Court has held that the trial court must exclude evidence involving scientific evidence unless the testimony satisfies both *Frye* and ER 702. *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 918, 296 P.3d 860 (2013). Under *Frye* standard, the trial court must find that the underlying scientific theory and the "techniques, experiments, or studies utilizing that theory" are generally accepted in the relevant scientific community and capable of producing reliable results. *Id.* Evidence is inadmissible under *Frye* if, as here, there is a significant dispute among qualified scientists in the relevant scientific community. *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 603 (2011); *State*

*v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 829 (2006); *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 887 (1993); *Eakins v. Huber*, 154 Wn. App. 592, 599 (2010). A court's decision to admit scientific evidence under the *Frye* standard is reviewed de novo. *Lahey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn. 2d 909, 919, 296 P.3d 860 (2013).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's admission of the "natural forces of labor" defense (NFOL), even though the very studies upon which the defense relies acknowledge that much is unknown regarding the causes of brachial plexus injuries in newborns. The extent of injury from the NFOL requires more investigation. The studies cannot show that avulsion injuries occur from NFOL. There is no method to test excessive traction. At least one study admits it was a "nonsystematic literature review." Another study states that the literature on brachial plexus injuries suffers from "lack of precision, conflicting findings, and lack of correlation." The theory is not generally accepted in the medical community, and it is not capable of producing reliable results as required by this Court's prior holdings.

The Court of Appeals allowed the NFOL defense, even though the trial court, the parties, the experts, and the medical literature confirm that no case of avulsion of the brachial plexus nerve from the NFOL has been identified in the medical literature. This Court should review the Court of

Appeals decision and reverse and remand for a *Frye* hearing.

Hamilton's defense expert, Dr. Sanford, testified that the literature "is still not very good in terms of telling us exactly what happens to cause" brachial plexus injury. CP 1467. She also testified: "I don't have anything in the literature that specifically – that I recall talks about [a]vulsion versus anything stretching . . . the medical literature does not really specifically state one way or another and more research is needed in whether [a]vulsion is any different than just a stretching or any type of thing that would cause a permanent injury." CP 1468; CP 1469.

A review of the literature confirms the trial court's finding that no medical literature supports Hamilton's defense. More importantly for the trial court's gatekeeping function, the medical literature almost universally concedes that more study is needed to understand the force needed to injure the brachial plexus nerve. Not only is the force needed to avulsion the nerve not known, but it cannot be known, because scientists cannot test these forces on newborn babies, a fact acknowledged by the trial court.

The medical literature also concedes that it has no tool for measuring the force applied by the practitioner. This detail is critical in this case (1) where the literature states such a tool is urgently needed; (2) where the forces of labor and the caregiver combine to cause injury; and (3) where *the literature shows that shoulder dysocias attended by either a*

*midwife, nurse, corpsman, or osteopath are at 3- to 4-fold increased risk of neonatal brachial plexus injury.* CP 2018. In this case, where Levi was delivered by a midwife, the NFOI defense completely fails to address this risk. Thus, the conjecture and extrapolation that occur in the literature should be carefully examined at a *Frye* hearing.

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) acknowledges the need for more research in its 2014 publication on brachial plexus injuries in newborns, which was relied upon heavily by Hamilton. “There is some evidence that the cardinal movements of labor alone may cause stretch in the brachial plexus (2), *but the extent of this stretch requires more investigation.*” CP 1916. The authors further state: “Because of the nonlinear behavior of tissues such as nerve tissue, *an estimate of the force needed to cause a nerve rupture cannot be directly established.*” CP 1917.

Another article relied upon by the Hamilton concludes: “Further studies, including comparison of neurosurgical findings with obstetric antecedents and *development of a tool to gauge excessive downward traction,* are urgently needed.” CP 2016. Another states that the contribution of the different factors is unknown. CP 2039. Still another article reiterates that “there is no currently accepted method to objectively quantify ‘excessive’ lateral traction.” CP 2021. Dr. DeMott, Hamilton’s

expert, co-authored a “nonsystematic literature review,” which means he used no methodology at all, much less one that is generally accepted in the medical community. CP 2026-2030.

The textbook, *Williams Obstetrics*, also relied upon by Hamilton, states that “severe plexopathy may also occur without risk factors or shoulder dystocia. (Torki, 2012).” CP 1999. However, the Torki study does no analysis and provides no description of the “severe brachial plexus palsies” the authors claim to have studied. CP 539-541. The authors of the Torki study do not document a rupture or avulsion injury. They reference only vaguely “severe brachial plexus palsies.” Thus, the studies cited by the studies do not support the claim that an avulsion can occur from NFOL.

Case reports relied upon by Hamilton do not describe avulsion injuries or cases where the brachial plexus nerves were ruptured or avulsed at all five levels. CP 2009-2010; CP 2012- 2016; CP 2018;. CP 2024

Hamilton and her experts also relied on “Causes of Neonatal Brachial Plexus Palsy,” by Daniel T. Alfonso, M.D. CP 2036-2041. Dr. Alfonso writes directly about the lack of general consensus in the medical community:

“The literature on predisposing factors for obstetrical brachial plexus palsy suffers from ***lack of precision, conflicting findings, and lack of correlation*** between the alleged predisposing factors and obstetrical brachial plexus palsy. Most articles equate neonatal brachial plexus palsy with obstetrical brachial plexus palsy, ***demonstrating a lack of precision in the literature.***” CP 2037.

Dr. Alfonso unequivocally states that the traction by the caregiver is necessary to produce obstetrical brachial plexus palsy: “. . .the magnitude, acceleration, and direction of the vector of the stretch force is the product of the sum of the traction force generated by the obstetrician and the propulsive force generated by spontaneous or induced uterine contractions.” PC 2038. The exact contribution of each force is unknown. CP 2039.

If the articles are looked at as a whole, two more issues arise that make a *Frye* hearing, not just appropriate, but necessary. First, the proponents of the “natural forces of labor theory” appear to be the same small group of doctors: Drs. Ouzounian, Sandmire, DeMott, and Gherman have written several of the articles. CP 1848-49. Dr. Gherman was chair of the Task Force on Neonatal Brachial Plexus Palsy that authored the ACOG publication, and Drs. Gherman and Ouzounian were on the committee. CP 1875; 1878. Some of the articles reference litigation as a consideration. CP 2009. Some acknowledge the “inherent ascertainment bias” of the authors. CP 2021.

Other doctors have disagreed with the methodologies or conclusions of the articles relied upon by Hamilton. CP 1516.

**Gurewitsch and associates believe that the scientific foundation for etiologies of BPP other than excessive traction is questionable.** The maternal propulsive-force theory as a cause of BPP [brachial plexus palsy] is challenged as **a subjective interpretation of retrospective data**, independent of whether shoulder dystocia was recorded and whether the injury was temporary or permanent.

Gurewitsch and colleagues state that evidence from 2 research studies shows that **maternal forces and in utero positioning are normally insufficient to cause injury** and that the most common cause of permanent injury is the application of traction laterally, torsionally, or in combination. **Gurewitsch et al state that there is not sufficient evidence to support other theories that permanent injury comes from anything other than excessive traction.**

CP 2051.

. . . [T]he claim that avulsion or rupture might be due to “endogenous “ factors (expulsive uterine forces and maternal pushing) capable of overstretching the brachial plexus is unsubstantiated. . . . [T]here is not even a single case report of permanent injury due to rupture or avulsion in the absence of traction having been applied. In addition our pediatric colleagues in neurology, orthopedics, and neurosurgery who evaluate and treat BPP recognize that avulsion or rupture results from excessive stretching of the brachial plexus by abduction (lateral traction).

CP 1462; 1643, par. 15

The second issue is that the studies examined the results of brachial plexus injuries, that is, whether the infant suffered from a “transient” or permanent brachial plexus palsy. CP 1852; 1856; 1860; 1884; 1990; 1993; 1996; 1999; 2009; 2012; 1303; 2024; 2026; 2032; and

2036. In many cases, it is simply not known whether the symptoms are the result of stretch, rupture, or avulsion, a fact pointed out by the trial court in its original ruling excluding the evidence. Thus, Hamilton's experts extrapolated studies of symptoms, without regard to the actual injury, to the present case where the nature of the actual injury is documented. CP 1667. The need for comparison of surgical findings with obstetric findings is acknowledged in the medical literature. CP 2016.

Given the uncertainty that is frankly acknowledged in the medical literature, a *Frye* hearing was required. The studies do not give any guidance for the practitioner or for the trier of fact regarding the force necessary to avulse the brachial plexus nerve and where the force comes from – the practitioner or the mother. When *shoulder dysocias attended by either a midwife, nurse, corpsman, or osteopath are at 3- to 4-fold increased risk of neonatal brachial plexus injury*, more is required than vague and speculative opinions that NFOL can cause brachial plexus injuries. CP 2018. This fact alone means that the healthcare provider can cause brachial plexus injury. The Court should reverse and remand for a *Frye* hearing.

**2. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with prior rulings of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.**

The Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the admission of

Hamilton's expert, Alan Tencer, Ph.D., conflicts with prior opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding the admission of medical causation testimony. The Court of Appeals' opinion also conflicts with this Court's prior opinions for admission of expert testimony under ER 702. Tencer is not qualified to testify about labor and delivery. He is not qualified to testify about the cause of Levi's injury.

Furthermore, the Courts of Appeal disagree whether Tencer may offer testimony that the forces in a motor vehicle collision may be insufficient to cause injury. *See Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (Div. I 2012); *Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 45 P.3d 557 (Div. III 2002). It seems Division One is on both sides of the fence. Its opinion in this case states that an opinion "that the maximum possible force in this accident was not enough to injure a person" is not a medical opinion." Opinion, p. 24. This is the opposite of its holding in *Stedman*, in which the Court stated: "*Schultz* persuasively explains why a trial court may regard such an opinion as more likely to be misleading than helpful." There is no credible evidence that there is a threshold below which a person cannot be injured, either in a motor vehicle accident or when a midwife uses too much traction on a baby's head and neck.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case gives Tencer and others like him *carte blanche* to testify in any case that a person could not

be injured. If the evidence to support such an opinion is unreliable in motor vehicle accident cases, the evidence to support such an opinion is even more unreliable in a birth injury case, because the medical literature states unequivocally that the studies are unreliable, and there is no data to show the force required to avulse the brachial plexus nerve.

The Court of Appeals opinion that Tencer could testify contradicts Washington law under ER 702 that the expert have sufficient foundation for his opinions. The Court “must find that there is an adequate foundation so that an opinion is not mere speculation, conjecture, or misleading.” *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 357 (2014). *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 18 (2012); *Fabrique v. Choice Hotels Int'l, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 675, 687-88 (2008) (Medical testimony must be based on the facts of the case and not on speculation or conjecture.).

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