FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/28/2017 2:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95173-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

L.M., a minor, by and through his Guardian ad litem, WILLIAMS L. E. DUSSAULT,

Appellant,

v.

LAURA HAMILTON, individually and her martial community; LAURA HAMILTON LICENSED MIDWIFE, a Washington business, Respondents.

RESPONDENT HAMILTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981
FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF
ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE,
PLLC
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 749-0094
Attorneys for Respondent Hamilton

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

L.M. asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision as to NFOL causation evidence is in conflict with this Court's prior decisions on admission of scientific evidence and is in conflict with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding admissibility of testimony by Dr. Tencer. Because the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with

decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, L.M.'s petition for review should be denied. Also, L.M's request for remand for some form of *Frye* hearing L.M. never asked the trial court to conduct should be rejected.

A. <u>L.M. Is Not Entitled to Reversal and Remand for a *Frye* Hearing that He Never Asked the Trial Court to Conduct.</u>

L.M. asserts, *Pet. at 1, 7-8, 11, 13*, this Court should accept review, reverse, and remand for the trial court to conduct a *Frye* hearing concerning NFOL causation testimony. L.M., however, ignores that he never asked the trial court to conduct any *Frye* hearing other than what it conducted based on review of the briefs, declarations, literature, and other jurisdiction cases the parties submitted on the motions to exclude and for reconsideration. Nor has he shown what he would present at another *Frye* hearing that he did not or could not present on those motions, or how he is prejudiced by not having a form of *Frye* hearing he never requested.

In his motion to exclude evidence of NFOL causation, L.M. argued that "No *Frye* hearing is necessary for this determination." CP 1460. In reply, he chastised Hamilton for not requesting a *Frye* hearing, CP 2045, but did not suggest that the court needed to do anything other than review the submissions and rule on the motion to exclude. Even in response to the reconsideration motion, he did not request, but instead argued that Hamilton never requested, a *Frye* hearing. CP 3213. Failure to request a

Frye hearing in the trial court constitutes a waiver of the issue on appeal.

State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. 530, 567 n.21, 364 P.3d 810 (2015).

B. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of Admission of NFOL Causation Evidence is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court.

Although L.M. asserts, *Pet. at 6*, that the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the admission of the NFOL causation evidence is in conflict with decisions of this Court concerning admission of scientific evidence, he never explains how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with any decision of this Court that he cites, *Pet. at 6-7 – Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 918, 296 P.3d 860 (2013); *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 603, 260 P. 3d 857 (2011); *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 829, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 887, 846 P.2d 502 (1993). In fact, in reaching its decision as to the admissibility of NFOL causation evidence, the Court of Appeals cited and relied upon *Lakey* (which cited *Cauthron*) and *Anderson* (which cited both *Gregory* and *Cauthron*).

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, quoting from *Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 919, and *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 611: "*Frye* ... is implicated only where 'either the theory and technique or method of arriving at the data relied upon is so novel that it is not generally accepted by the relevant scientific community." *L.M.*, 200 Wn. App. at 539, 540-41. "If the theory

or method has general scientific consensus, its application to reach novel conclusions as to causation does not implicate *Frye*." *Id.* at 541 (citing *Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 920).

"Frye does not require that the specific conclusions drawn from the scientific data upon which [an expert] relied be generally accepted in the scientific community. Frye does not require every deduction drawn from generally accepted theories to be generally accepted."

L.M., 200 Wn. App. at 541 (quoting Anderson, 172Wn.2d at 611). 14

Here, there was nothing novel about the scientific methodology the defense medical experts used to arrive at their causation opinions. It was the same methodology L.M.'s medical experts used – review of L.M.'s medical records and birth video, interpretation of pertinent medical literature, and reliance on knowledge, training and experience. That L.M.'s experts drew different conclusions from the same medical records, birth video, and peer-reviewed medical literature (undisputedly showing that NFOL may cause permanent BPIs, even if it does not identify whether those permanent BPIs were due to stretch, rupture or avulsion) does not make either side's medical experts' scientific methodology novel or their conclusions less worthy of the jury's consideration.

L.M.'s selective quotes from the literature, Pet. at 7-11, as to the

¹⁴ Many medical opinions are based on "differential diagnoses." *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 610. A "physician or other qualified expert may base a conclusion about causation through a process of ruling out potential causes with due consideration to temporal factors, such as events and the onset of symptoms." *Id.* at 610.

uncertainty as to exactly what happens to cause permanent BPIs or the degree of force needed to cause a permanent rupture or avulsion BPI, and L.M.'s insistence about the absence of any specific report in the literature of an avulsion BPI due to NFOL are beside the point. The Frye consideration is whether the methodology the experts used to arrive at their conclusion, not whether the conclusion they drew, is generally accepted in the scientific community. As L.M.'s own experts conceded, there is no literature establishing that avulsion BPIs cannot be caused by NFOL. And, as Dr. Mandel conceded, references in the literature to permanent BPIs resulting from NFOL include avulsions, ruptures and severe stretch injuries. See fn. 9, supra. As Dr. Collins testified, the fact that a BPI is permanent means that the nerve has ruptured or avulsed. CP 4981. And, as Dr. DeMott testified, no one has ever demonstrated that more force is required to cause a rupture or avulsion than to cause an intact stretch BPI, nor have any studies been done comparing the force during delivery with the specific subcategories of permanent BPIs. 10/28 RP (DeMott) 27:18-28:2, 67:22-68:23, 94:12-95:1; CP 1842, ¶22, 1848, ¶33.

As this Court made clear in *Anderson*, 176 Wn.2d at 611: "Frye does not require every deduction drawn from generally accepted theories to be generally accepted." If "general acceptance' of each discrete and ever more specific part of an expert opinion" were required, then "virtual-

ly all opinions based upon scientific data could be argued to be within some part of the scientific twilight zone." *Id.* at 611. The Court of Appeals' determinations that L.M.'s complaints about NFOL causation evidence goes to weight, not admissibility, and that the trial court properly found *Frye* did not require its exclusion does not conflict, but is consistent, with this Court's decisions concerning admissibility of scientific evidence.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision as to Dr. Tencer's Testimony Is Not in Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Court Decisions.

L.M. asserts, *Pet. at 14*, the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the admission of Dr. Tencer's testimony "conflicts with prior opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding admission of medical causation testimony." That assertion, however, ignores defense counsel's representation and the trial court's ruling that Dr. Tencer would not be testifying to the cause of L.M.'s injury, CP 2360; Dr. Tencer's declaration testimony, that "[f]rom a biomechanical forces perspective, it is not possible to differentiate" whether L.M.'s injury "resulted from exogenous, endogenous or some combination of both forces," CP 2376, ¶5(i); and the fact that, at trial, Dr. Tencer was not asked about and did not offer any opinion as to the specific forces involved in L.M.'s delivery or the cause of L.M's injury, *see* 10/27 RP (Tencer) 26:4-6. Indeed, L.M. has not cited any place in the trial transcript where Dr. Tencer gave a medical causation opinion,

much less testified, as L.M. suggests, *Pet. at 14-15*, that L.M. could not have been injured by traction on his head and neck.¹⁵

L.M. also asserts, *Pet. at 14*, the Court of Appeals' decision as to Dr. Tencer's testimony conflicts with Washington decisions regarding admissibility of expert testimony under ER 702, but again fails to establish any such conflict. As those decisions make clear, admissibility under ER 702 is a two-step inquiry – "whether the witness qualifies as an expert and whether the expert testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact," *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn. 2d 300, 306, 907 P.2d 282 (1995), and the trial court has "wide discretion in ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony," *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 147, 34 P.3d 835 (2001).

Contrary to L.M.'s assertions, *Pet. at 14*, the mere fact that one appellate court in *Ma'Ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 45 P.3d 557 (2002), affirmed the admission, and another in *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012), affirmed the exclusion, of Dr. Tencer's testimony as to the sufficiency of the biomechanical forces at play in a motor vehicle accident to cause injury, does not render those decisions in conflict with each other or the decision in this case in conflict with either of them. As the court explained in *Stedman*, 172 Wn. App. at 18:

The fact that an appellate court has affirmed a decision

¹⁵ Because Dr. Tencer did not give expert medical testimony, he did not, as L.M. suggests, *Pet. at 16*, need a medical degree to give the testimony he gave.

allowing Tencer's testimony does not, of course, necessarily mean that the trial court erred by excluding his testimony in this case. The broad standard of abuse of discretion means that courts can reasonably reach different conclusions about whether, and to what extent, an expert's testimony will be helpful to the jury in a particular case.

And, as this Court further explained in *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn. 2d 346, 354, 333 P.3d 388 (2014), the *Stedman* court's statement

appears consistent with the approach ER 702 through 705 contemplate. That is, in each case a trial court's decision is guided by the requirements of the rules in balancing the factors to determine whether such testimony should be admissible in the context of the specific facts in each case.

L.M. suggests, *Pet. at 16*, that because Dr. Tencer's training and experience is in orthopedics, not the mechanics of childbirth, because he testifies about automobile collisions, or because he is not qualified to treat patients, he was not qualified to testify about the biomechanical forces in labor and delivery. But, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, *L.M.*, 200 Wn. App. at 557: "Dr. Tencer has extensive training and experience in medical settings with injuries to the spinal cord and nerve roots, as well as the force levels necessary to cause them." Indeed, he has done biomechanical research studying the strength of the spinal cord and nerve roots, and has reviewed the published research of other biomechanical engineers who have studied the forces of labor and delivery. CP 2372-73; 10/27 RP (Tencer) 5:16-7:14, 9:17-20, 10:22-11:19. Moreover, an expert need not acquire his knowledge through personal experience, but may testify based

on his training, experience, professional observations, and acquired knowledge. *E.g.*, *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 307-08; *State v. Rodriquez*, 163 Wn. App. 215, 232, 259 P.3d 1145 (2011).

L.M.'s claims, *Pet. at 17-19*, that Dr. Tencer's opinions lacked reliability and thus were not helpful to the jury are without merit. First, L.M.'s assertion, *Pet. at 17-18*, that Dr. Tencer's opinion that "most clinicians used less than 150 N" of force in delivering a baby, was unreliable and could mislead the jury ignores that that was a conclusion reached in the published literature, *see* CP 1912, and, while something Dr. Tencer stated in his declaration, CP 2375, was not an opinion he expressed at trial, *see* 10/27 RP (Tencer) 4-39.¹⁶

Second, L.M.'s selective quotes from the medical literature (only two of which were used in cross-examining Dr. Tencer) does not render unreliable the testimony Dr. Tencer gave. From the published studies done to measure the forces in labor and delivery, Dr. Tencer testified that the internal forces trying to push the baby out range from about 28 to 37 pounds, and the external forces from the birth attendants guiding or pulling the baby out range from 1.6 pounds up to 57 pounds, such that on

¹⁶ L.M.'s claim, *Pet. at 17*, that "[n]othing in the evidence suggests that Hamilton did not use more force than average," ignores the defense experts' testimony that the birth video showed normal handling and no use of excessive force. And, L.M.'s claim, *Pet. at 18*, that Tencer's testimony could mislead the jury that less than 150 N was applied in this case is belied by the fact that Tencer gave no testimony at trial about "150 N" or the amount of force applied in this case.

average they are about the same. 10/27 RP (Tencer) 9:17-16:3, 31:13-25. As for the compression and tension forces on the brachial plexus when a baby's shoulder comes up against a solid obstruction such as the mother's pelvis, he pointed out that studies have shown that the compression forces are four-to-nine times greater than the tension forces, and that nerves can withstand more tension (a stretch of as much as 30%) than compression. Id. at 16:15-19:5. Based on his work with bones and nerves, he testified that nerves are much weaker than bones, id. at 19:18-20:1, 24:19-25:24; see also CP 2373, ¶2:10-14, and that, if NFOL could cause clavicle fractures, ¹⁷ then the NFOL are very high. 10/27 RP (Tencer) 20:11-19. He then opined that it "certainly appears" that NFOL can cause rupture or avulsion of the brachial plexus. *Id.* at 22:6-9. L.M.'s selective quotes from the literature do not establish lack of foundation for Dr. Tencer's opinions, 18 but at most, as the trial court observed, 10/12 RP 37:21-22, provide "excellent arguments for cross-examination."

Finally, L.M. asserts, Pet. at 16, that "Tencer did not apply what

¹⁷ Even L.M.'s expert, Dr. Mandel has had a clavicle fracture occur solely from NFOL. 10/21 RP (Mandel) 88:2-25.

¹⁸ L.M.'s complaint, *Pet. at 19*, that Dr. Tencer somehow evaded a question on cross as to whether he would agree with a 1999 article's statement that "there are no data to quantify the threshold pressures needed to induce traction versus compression related nerve injury," stating that "science moves forward" and "there's probably more data around," but presenting no evidence of newer studies, ignores that (1) L.M.'s counsel did not follow-up and ask him to cite any newer studies, *see* 10/27 RP (Tencer) 28: 18-29:11, (2) L.M.'s counsel agreed that "there is more data and articles," *id.* at 29:5; and (3) Dr. Tencer agreed that a later published statement that "[a]n estimated of the force needed to cause nerve rupture cannot be directly established" was "fair," *id.* at 29:25-30:2.

little science that exists to the facts of this case," because he did not know the internal forces at play or the force Hamilton used during L.M.'s delivery, as if that somehow rendered his testimony inadmissible. Besides admitting that some science concerning the forces involved in labor and delivery exists, L.M.'s assertion ignores that "an expert's testimony 'not based on a personal evaluation of the subject goes to the testimony's weight, not its admissibility." *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 357. Dr. Tencer was not called to testify about the actual forces involved in L.M.'s labor and delivery; he was asked to describe the endogenous and exogenous forces generally at play and the relative strength of bones versus nerves. Because he was qualified to give such testimony and it would be helpful to the jury's understanding of those forces, the Court of Appeals properly found no abuse of discretion in allowing his testimony under ER 702. That decision is not conflict with any Washington appellate decision.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.